







# Responses in soil carbon and nitrogen fractionation after prescribed burning in Pla de la Llacuna, Montseny

# **Supervisors**

Dr. Maria Teresa Sebastia, University of Lleida Dr. Mercedes Ibanez, Forest Sciences Centre of Catalonia (CTFC)

# Student name

Sangita Chowdhury

Date: December 11, 2020



# The University of Lleida

# School of Agrifood, Forestry Science and Engineering

# Master thesis title

Responses in soil carbon and nitrogen fractionation after prescribed burning in Pla de la Llacuna, Montseny

# Supervised by

Dr. Maria Teresa Sebastia, University of Lleida Dr. Mercedes Ibanez, Forest Sciences Centre of Catalonia (CTFC)

# Submitted by

Sangita Chowdhury

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	6
1. Introduction	7
2. Materials and methods	9
2.1. Study area	9
2.2 Field sampling and laboratory determinations	11
2.3. Statistical Analysis	12
3. Results	13
3.1 Overall soil C and N distribution	
3.2 Total and fractional soil C	14
3.3 Total and fractional soil N	15
3.4 Total and fractional soil C/N ratio	16
4. DISCUSSION	20
4.1 Total and fractional soil C and N distribution before and after burning	21
4.2 Plant species and species legacy effects on total and fractional soil C and N a burning	listribution after 22
4.3 Total and fractional soil C/N ratio	25
5. Conclusion	
Acknowledgements	26
References	26
Annexes	33

# **Figure Index**

Fig. 1 Map of the Study Area
Fig. 2. The study area before and after the prescribed burning10
<b>Fig. 3.</b> Sample distribution along the three first axes (PCA1 and PCA2 (A), above; PCA1 and PCA3 (B), below) of Principal Component Analysis (PCA) performed on the overall soil C and N variables (total and fractional). Samples are clumped into groups according to vegetation patch type and prescribed burning treatment. The mean value $\pm 1$ SE, standard error, per each species and treatment is represented by different symbols and whiskers. The five vegetation types are: <i>Calluna vulgaris</i> (CV); <i>Cladonia</i> (CSP); <i>Cytisus scoparius</i> (CS); <i>Erica arborea</i> (EA); <i>Pteridium aquilinum</i> (PA). Circles (o), pre-burning; triangles ( $\Delta$ ), post-burning.
<b>Fig. 4.</b> Mean ± 1 SE total and fractional (top to bottom) soil C distribution in the upper (0-5 cm; left) and deeper (5-10 cm; right) soil layers per vegetation patch type ( <i>Calluna vulgaris</i> (CV); <i>Cladonia</i> (CSP); <i>Cytisus scoparius</i> (CS); <i>Erica arborea</i> (EA); <i>Pteridium aquilinum</i> (PA)) and burning treatment
<b>Fig. 5.</b> Mean ± 1 SE total and fractional (top to bottom) soil N distribution in the upper (0-5 cm; left) and deeper (5-10 cm; right) soil layers per vegetation patch type ( <i>Calluna vulgaris</i> (CV); <i>Cladonia</i> (CSP); <i>Cytisus scoparius</i> (CS); <i>Erica arborea</i> (EA); <i>Pteridium aquilinum</i> (PA)) and burning treatment
<b>Fig. 6.</b> Mean ± 1 SE total and fractional (top to bottom) soil C/N ratio distribution in the upper (0-5 cm; left) and deeper (5-10 cm; right) soil layers per vegetation patch type ( <i>Calluna vulgaris</i> (CV); <i>Cladonia</i> (CSP); <i>Cytisus scoparius</i> (CS); <i>Erica arborea</i> (EA); <i>Pteridium aquilinum</i> (PA)) and burning treatment
Fig. 7 Representation of the first two axes from Redundancy Analysis (RDA) on soil total and fractional C and N
variables as descriptor variables (labels and arrows in blue). Explanatory variables are slope, burning, species, and species x burning. Symbols represent: circles, species; solid triangles, post-burnig treatment per species; open triangles, pre-burning treatment per species. Colors represent: Red, <i>Calluna vulgaris</i> ; light green, <i>Cytisus scoparius</i> ; deep green, <i>Cladonia</i> biocrust; blue, <i>Erica arborea</i> ; and purple, <i>Pteridium aquilinum</i>
Fig. 8 Relationship between slope and C in total and fractions in the upper layer (0-5 cm)
Fig. 9 Relationship between slope and C in total and fractions in the deeper layer (5-10 cm)
Fig. 10 Relationship between slope and N in total and fractions in the upper layer (0-5 cm)
Fig. 11 Relationship between slope and C in total and fractions in the deeper layer (5-10 cm)

## **Table Index**

**Table 2:** Mean  $\pm 1$  standard error (SE) of all N variables in the study, by soil depth layer. P-values from the mixed model regressions on N variables, for the following tested explanatory variables: slope, burning and species......17

## Abstract

Prescribed fire is one of the most widely-used management tools to achieve precise and clearly defined objectives related to recover encroached rangelands. To my knowledge, there is no study that examines the legacy effect of the plant species on soil carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) particle size fractions after prescribed burning. Thus, this study aimed to assess the impact of prescribed burning on the C and N contents in the different fractions in topsoil (0-5cm and 5-10cm) in Pla de la Llacuna, Montseny, particularly to examine the legacy effect of the former extant plant species on soil carbon and nitrogen fraction distribution. Five vegetation patch types dominated by different plant functional types were identified. Multivariate analysis showed that patches dominated by different plant functional types show variability in the soil C and N contents, with legumes containing higher C and N proportions compared with other patch types, and most differentiated from biocrust soils. Soils under the legume Cytisus scoparius and the Atlantic shrub Calluna *vulgaris* were the ones showing a higher response to burning compared to the soil under the other species. According to univariate response analysis, C and N in total soil and in the sand fraction in the upper layer (0-5cm) decreased after prescribed burning, but increased in silt and clay fractions in the deeper layer (5-10 cm) likely due to downwards translocation and accumulation of C and N. The C/N ratio of total soil and sand fraction in the upper layer (0-5 cm), as well as silt fraction in both layers decreased after fire indicating soil C in the study site is labile. No significant interactions were found between plant species and burning in the total soil, neither in the three soil C and N fractions. But there were some tendencies for vegetation patch types to respond differently to burning, C. scoparius and C. vulgaris always being the most differentiated. This study will be helpful in terms of ecological, as well as management aspects, in terms of understanding ecological legacy effects and their possible consequences when planning prescribed burning.

Keywords: Prescribed burning; Soil particle size fractions; Plant species-fire interactions; *Cytisus scoparius*; *Calluna vulgaris*; biocrusts

### 1. Introduction

Fire is an important driver of environmental changes in an ecosystem, responsible for altering nutrient pools by changing the physical, chemical and biological properties of soils and nutrient cycling (González-Pérez et al. 2008; Certini 2005). Prescribed burning is considered as the deliberate application of fire under selected conditions to achieve precise and clearly defined management objectives (Fernandes et al. 2013). It is a widely-used practice to reduce the risk of wildfire (Reverchon et al. 2012). Combustion of litter and soil organic matter due to prescribed burning increase plant available nutrients that results in rapid growth of herbaceous plants and a significant increase in plant storage of nutrients (Rau et al. 2008). Prescribed burning is characterized by lower temperature, intensity and severity compared to wildfires and considered to affect only the upper centimetres of the soil (San Emeterio et al. 2014).

Soil includes different carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) pools where soil labile C and N pools are characterized by their small quantities and fast turnover rates (Hu et al. 1997). With longer turnover rates, recalcitrant organic C and N pools are physically or chemically protected (Poirier et al. 2000). The influence of prescribed fires on soil C and N depends on fire frequency and intensity. It may also affect microbial community composition and function that lead to altered C and N cycling in an ecosystem (Artz et al. 2009). Soils are considered as a major reservoir of C in terrestrial ecosystems (Nair et al. 2010). Soil organic carbon (SOC) is responsible for soil fertility and it is used as an indicator of soil health. Fire can influence N availability by its effect on N mineralisation. Low intensity fire can stimulate mineralisation of N, whereas high intensity fire often reduces N mineralisation (Serrasolsas and Khanna 1995; Guerrero et al. 2005). According to the findings of several studies, it is normal to find increased C and N content in low intensity and severity fires because of the incorporation of unburned or partially unburned slash fragments into the soil (Soto and Díaz-Fierros 1993; Úbeda et al. 2005; Roaldson et al. 2014), while other studies report no change (Boyer and Miller 1994; Switzer et al. 2012). The C/N ratios of soil after burning are typically lower than those in the original soils (Vega 1986).

Generally, around 50–75% of total Organic Carbon is associated with clay-sized particles ( $<2 \mu m$ ), about 20–40% with silt sized particles (2-63  $\mu m$ ) and 10% with sand-sized particles (>63  $\mu m$ ) in temperate top soils (Christensen 2001). Soil particle size fractions are helpful in maintaining stability of ecosystems (Six et al. 2004). These fractions are better indicators of soil C sequestration potential and thus a tool for environmental monitoring (Scott Howlett et. al. 2011). SOM within

the sand fraction is allocated to the active (labile) pool and in silt and clay fractions to the passive (recalcitrant) pool. The labile pool is the most sensitive pool because it is easily affected by fluctuation in environmental conditions. The labile pool is decomposed rapidly and get oxidized with any changes in land use practice easily (Haynes 2005). While the passive/non-labile pool is more stable and recalcitrant, and therefore this fraction is decomposed slowly by microbial activity (Wiesenberg et al. 2010).

Plants determine the quantity and the quality of residues, soil organic matter, as well as soil structure (Wardle et al. 2004). Thus, soil functions are also affected by plant functional diversity (Castro et al. 2010; Debouk et al. 2020). Plant functional types (PFTs) have proved to be a useful tool for predicting soil processes like C and N cycles (Wang et al. 2014). Phenology and vegetation structure may be determinant for the Net Ecosystem Exchange (NEE) as the aboveground living biomass directly takes-up (Nakano and Shinoda 2014) and releases CO<sub>2</sub> (Thakur and Eisenhauer 2015). Legume is one plant functional group that have potential to modify soil nutrient availability as legumes have the capacity to fix symbiotic nitrogen (Craine et al. 2001). Through increasing available soil N by higher N mineralisation and nitrification, legumes can affect community N budgets (Johnson et al. 2004). In addition, biological soil crusts (BSCs), which are assemblages of lichens, fungi, cyanobacteria, and mosses that colonize the soil surface, exert a great influence on ecosystem functioning by playing a key role in the N cycle, as N-fixing lichens and free-living, heterotrophic bacteria forming part of BSCs, are able to fix substantial amounts of atmospheric N (Evans and Ehleringer 1993).

Soil C and N deposits in heathlands may be vulnerable to fire (Davies et al. 2016). Many studies have focused on the dynamics of topsoil C and N stocks after prescribed burning. A few studies have focused on the effects of fire on soil C and N contents in clay, sand, and silt fractions (Granged et al. 2011; Girona-García et al. 2018). There are several studies conducted on the fire effect in seed germination, natural regeneration, changes in vegetative composition. To my knowledge, there is no study that examines the legacy effect of the plant species on soil carbon and nitrogen particle size fractions after prescribed burning. Ecological legacy is a concept focused mainly on community or ecosystem-level phenomena, on changes due to past events (Vogt et al. 1997). Therefore, the aim of this study was to assess the impact of prescribed burning on the C and N contents in the different fractions in topsoil (0-5cm and 5-10cm) in Pla de la Llacuna, Montseny, particularly to examine the legacy effect of the former extant plant species on soil carbon and

nitrogen fractions after prescribed burning. I hypothesise that due to low to moderate prescribed fire, (1) the C and N contents in different soil fractions will be increased because of accumulation of burnt material; (2) patches dominated by different plant functional types will show variability in the soil C and N contents, with legumes containing higher C and N proportions compared with other species; and (3) burning effects on soil C and N distribution will be modified by plant species, that is, there will be ecological legacy effects of former extant species.

### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Study area

The study was conducted at the Pla de la Llacuna (longitude 2° 18' to 2° 22' east, latitude 41° 44' to 41° 47' north), located in the Pla de la Calma, an elevated plateau that ranges between 1250 and 1300 m a. s. l. This occupies an irregular area of about 974 hectares in the Montseny Natural Park, in the Northern Catalan Pre-Littoral Range, north-eastern Iberian Peninsula (Fig. 1). This park comprises Mediterranean and Central Europe landscapes with different biomes having local influence of metropolitan conurbations nearby.

The plateau is characterized by humid Mediterranean climate; mean annual precipitation is approximately 700 mm where snow accounts for around 10% of the annual precipitation. The mean annual temperature is 10 °C. Bedrock is a metamorphic schist where the major minerals are quartz albite, muscovite and chlorite. Soils are acidic, with a pH of 4.5 to 5.5, and characterised by a sandy-loam texture (Belillas and Roda 1991). The topographic location and humidity circulation lead a general situation that favors the presence of Atlantic vegetation, where the shrubs *Erica scorparia* L., *Erica arborea* L. and *Calluna vulgaris* L. are widespread. The area is covered principally by shrubs and grass (Bolòs et al. 1986), including biological crusts dominated by various species of the lichen *Cladonia*. For centuries, the hills of the Montseny mountains have been used as pastures. Montseny was declared as a Natural Park in 1977; since then many traditional practices have declined, and some, such as shepherds' burning, have completely ceased (Bartolomé et al. 2005). Many small flocks composed mainly of sheep and goats grazed in Montseny in former times. There are now fewer but larger flocks, having a similar total number of cattle (Bartolomé et al. 1998).



Fig. 1 Map of the Study Area (Courtesy of José Manjón-Cabeza Córdoba)



Fig. 2. The study area before and after the prescribed burning (Courtesy of Josefina Plaixats)

#### 2.2 Field sampling and laboratory determinations

The area selected for the prescribed burning experiment had a surface of 3200 m<sup>2</sup> (Figs. 1 and 2). A smaller area of 30 x 90 m within this surface was selected for the soil sampling (Fig. 2). Thirty georeferenced sampling points were distributed throughout this smaller area using a stratified directed sampling. Slope was used as stratifying variable, with three areas separated according to the different general slope; and soils sampled within each slope area according to the required criteria: different vegetation dominated patches. Two samplings were performed, one before the burning event (pre-burning) and a re-sampling in the same 30 sampling points afterwards (post-burning). The pre-burning sampling was carried out in January 30th, 2019, and the post-burning sampling was carried out in March 5th, 2019. The burning event was conducted in February 13th, 2019. The fire intensity was low to moderate in our study area. There was rain after burning in February 21 (0.1 mm). Fig. 2 shows the study area before and after the prescribed burning.

A plot of 30 x 90 m was selected and three additional subareas with different slope were determined as stratification levels (strata) of the variable slope: the top area with gentle slope; the intermediate area with medium slope; and the bottom area with the steepest slope. Slope was obtained using the 5m DEM (Digital Elevation Model) from the IGN (<u>www.ign.es</u>), and a general slope value provided for each of the three sampled subareas.

Five vegetation patch types were initially identified as the most abundant vegetation patches in the shrubland. Each type was dominated by different species: the vascular plants *Calluna vulgaris*, *Erica arborea*, *Cytisus scoparius* and *Pteridium aquilinum* L.; and the biocrust dominated by lichens mostly of the genus *Cladonia*, and including some grasses. They belong to different plant functional types, where the shrubs *C. vulgaris* and *E. arborea* are Ericaceae and *C. scoparius* is a legume; *Pteridium* is a fern; and the *Cladonia* patch is a lichen-dominated biocrust. Henceforth, I will use the terminology: Calluna (CV) for *Calluna vulgaris* patches; Erica (EA) for *Erica arborea* patches; Cytisus (CS) for *Cytisus scoparius* patches; Pteridium (PA) for *Pteridium aquilinum*; and Cladonia (CSP) for the biocrusts with *Cladonia*.

One replicate of each vegetation patch type (5 types) was selected at each plot (2 plots) and slope stratum (3 strata), yielding a total of 30 replicates. Each replicate was georeferenced during the pre-burning sampling with a highly precise GNSS Leica Zeno 20 (Leica Geosystems AG, Heerbrugg, Switzerland) with a differential correction Real Time Kinematic (RTK) broadcast

system that was connected to the RTKAT service provided by the Institut Cartogràfic i Geològic de Catalunya (ICGC). And also re-sampled after burning, in the post-burning sampling, using the same GNSS instrument.

Soil samples were extracted in two different layers corresponding to two different soil depths (0-5 cm and 5-10 cm) in each georeferenced sampling point using a 4 x 4 cm<sup>2</sup> coring probe; afterwards soils were transported to the laboratory and oven dried at 60°C until constant weight. Soil samples were physically fractionated using the method developed by Six et al. (2002). The three soil fraction samples of known moisture content were analysed by a LECO C.N.H.S. Elemental Analyzer for the percentage of C and N. Total percentage of soil C and N was also measured in the two different soil depth layers. This results in eight variables including: C in total, C in clay, C in silt, C in sand in the upper layer (0-5 cm) and C in total, C in clay, C in silt, C in sand in the deeper layer (5-10 cm), as well as N in total, N in clay, N in silt, N in sand in the upper layer (0-5 cm) and N in total, N in clay, N in silt, N in sand in the deeper layer (5-10 cm). The C/N ratio was also calculated for each of the fractions and layers described above.

#### 2.3. Statistical Analysis

Multivariate indirect ordination analysis was applied to the totality of the soil variables analysed in this study. In particular, I applied Principal Component Analysis (PCA). In addition, I tested multivariate direct ordination methods including Redundancy Analysis (RDA). Nonetheless, PCA provided a clearer picture of the patterns, probably due to the high topographical variability in the study, and I describe those PCA results. Results from RDA are shown in Annex. Multivariate analysis was conducted with CANOCO 5.1 (Braak and Šmilauer 2018).

In addition to multivariate mathematical analysis, I performed multivariate statistical regression on each of the study variables of interest, or response variables. In particular, linear mixed effect models were performed with the identity of the sampling point as random factor, and with burning, slope, and vegetation patch type as fixed factors. Then the best model was selected according to AIC (Akaike Information Criterion). I included slope as a quantitative covariate (block) factor. All statistical analyses were conducted in the R version 4.0.2 (R Core Team 2020).

### **3. Results**

In the study area, silt was the fraction including the highest soil C and N contents in both layers (Table 1, Table 2).

#### 3.1 Overall soil C and N distribution

Considering together all the C and N variables, including C and N content in the total soil and in the three soil fractions, the Principal Component Analysis (PCA) explained 31% of the total variability. PCA axis 1 explained 60 % of the explained variability and mainly separated samples according to the plant species under which the soil was originally extracted (Fig. 3A). Soils under Cytisus were distributed along the most negative part on PCA axis 1, followed by those under Pteridium (Fig. 3A); while soils under Cladonia distributed mostly on the positive side (Fig. 3A). Soils under the two Ericaceae had low responses to this axis, with Erica being particularly unresponsive, placed close to 0 on the PCA Axis 1 (Fig. 3A). On the other hand, Axis 2 added 20% to the explained variability. This axis mostly explained the variability due to burning (Fig. 3A). Soils under Cytisus and Calluna were the ones showing a higher response to burning compared to the soil under the other species (Fig. 3A). In particular, soils under Calluna strongly varied in response to burning, in terms of overall soil fractional C and N properties (Fig. 3A). Finally, PCA axis 3 explained 8 % of the total explained variability. Axes PCA2 and PCA3 suggest differences among vegetation patches in overall soil C and N responses to burning, soils under *Calluna*, Cytisus, and Cladonia being the ones most differentiated between unburned and burned conditions (Fig. 3A; Fig. 3B). The high variability shown in the overall responses (high values of SE around the mean for the three axes shown in Fig. 3) seems to be related to the high topographical heterogeneity in the sampled terrain, as suggested by the results of the direct RDA (Annexes; Fig. 7), where slope, in addition to species identity and burning treatment, show a high correlation to the three axes (Annexes; Fig. 7).



**Fig. 3.** Sample distribution along the three first axes (PCA1 and PCA2 (A), above; PCA1 and PCA3 (B), below) of Principal Component Analysis (PCA) performed on the overall soil C and N variables (total and fractional). Samples are clumped into groups according to vegetation patch type and prescribed burning treatment. The mean value  $\pm 1$  SE, standard error, per each species and treatment is represented by different symbols and whiskers. The five vegetation types are: *Calluna vulgaris* (CV); *Cladonia* (CSP); *Cytisus scoparius* (CS); *Erica arborea* (EA); *Pteridium aquilinum* (PA). Circles (o), pre-burning; triangles ( $\Delta$ ), post-burning.

#### 3.2 Total and fractional soil C

Both total (Fig. 4A) and sand fraction C (Fig. 4D) decreased after burning in the upper layer (0-5 cm) (Table 1); conversely C in clay fraction showed an increasing trend (Table 1, Fig. 4F), and C in silt fraction increased with burning in the deeper layer (5-10 cm; Table 1, Fig. 4G). Soil C

generally increased with slope in almost all soil fractions in both soil layers (Table 1; Annexes; Fig. 8, Fig. 9).

*Cytisus* patches showed significantly higher C in sand in the upper than in the deeper layer (Table 1, Fig. 4D), but no significant interactions were found between plant species and burning in the total carbon, neither in the three soil C fractions (Table 1). However, we could detect tendencies in the particular response of some plant species to the burning (Fig. 4). Thus, after burning, total soil C in the upper layer (0-5 cm) showed a decreasing trend in all species, which was more pronounced in *Cladonia* and *Erica* patches compared to the other patch types (Table 1, Fig. 4A). C in sand also decreased in all the species, but especially in the *Calluna* and *Cytisus* patches in the upper soil layer (0-5 cm) (Table 1, Fig. 4D). In contrast, C in the silt fraction increased after burning more remarkably in *Calluna* and *Cytisus* than in the other patch types in the deeper layer (5-10 cm; Table 1, Fig. 4G).

#### 3.3 Total and fractional soil N

N in the total soil (Fig. 5A) and in the sand fraction (Fig. 5D) at the upper layer (0-5 cm) decreased after fire (Table 2). Conversely, soil N significantly increased with prescribed burning in the clay (Fig. 5F) and silt fractions (Fig. 5G) in the deeper soil layer (5-10 cm) (Table 2). Similarly to C, N also mainly increased with slope in total and in fractions (Table 2; Annexes, Fig. 10, Fig. 11).

Significantly higher N content was found in sand fraction under *Cytisus* than under the other vegetation patches in the 0-5 cm soil depth layer before and after burning (Table 2, Fig. 5D). There were no significant interactions between plant species and burning in the total soil, neither in the three soil N fractions (Table 2). But there were some tendencies for vegetation patch types to respond differently to burning (Fig. 5). Total soil N decreased in almost all vegetation patch types, more remarkably in *Cladonia* in the upper layer (0-5 cm) after burning (Table 2, Fig. 5A). Also, N in sand decreased in all species, but mainly in *Calluna*, followed by *Cytisus* and *Erica* in the upper soil layer (0-5 cm depth) after burning (Table 2, Fig. 5D). On the other hand, N in the clay fraction increased especially in *Cytisus*, but also slightly increased in *Calluna* and *Cladonia* after burning in the deeper layer (5-10 cm, Table 2, Fig. 5F). This increasing trend was also found in the silt fraction, in which N increased more markedly in *Calluna* and *Cytisus* in the deeper layer (5-10 cm depth) compared to the other vegetation patch types (Table 2, Fig. 4G).

#### 3.4 Total and fractional soil C/N ratio

Prescribed fire significantly affected the C/N ratio of total soil (Fig. 6A) and sand fraction (Fig. 6D) in the upper layer (0-5 cm), as well as silt fraction (Fig. 6C; Fig. 6G) in both layers (0-5 cm and 5-10 cm) (Table 3). A significant burning x species interaction on C/N was observed in total soil in the deeper soil layer (5-10 cm), with *Cladonia* decreasing markedly its C/N ratio after fire compared to the other patches (Table 3, Fig. 6E).

#### Table 1:

Mean  $\pm$  1 standard error (SE) of all C variables in the study, by soil depth layer. P-values from the mixed model regressions on C variables, for the following tested explanatory variables: slope, burning and species.

			Explanate	xplanatory variables (P-value)		
Carbon variables	Soil depth (cm)	Mean ± 1 SE	Slope	Burning	Species	
Carbon in total	0-5	$10.7\pm0.4$	0.001	0.001	0.158	
	10	$4.3 \pm 0.2$	0.030	0.548	0.394	
Carbon in clay	0-5	$8.8 \pm 0.2$	0.003	0.609	0.201	
	10	$6.5 \pm 0.2$	0.008	0.081	0.372	
Carbon in silt	0-5	$11.4\pm0.3$	0.006	0.521	0.142	
	10	$6.7\pm0.2$	0.092	0.005	0.502	
Carbon in sand	0-5	$8.8 \pm 0.4$	0.001	0.016	0.038	
	10	$4.1 \pm 0.2$	< 0.001	0.696	0.281	

P-values in bold indicate < 0.05; P-values < 0.1 are in italics

### Table 2:

Mean  $\pm$  1 standard error (SE) of all N variables in the study, by soil depth layer. P-values from the mixed model regressions on N variables, for the following tested explanatory variables: slope, burning and species.

			Explanatory variables (P-value)		
Nitrogen variables	Soil depth (cm)	Mean ± 1 SE	Slope	Burning	Species
Nitrogen in total	0-5	0.6 ± 0.0	0.003	0.009	0.193
	10	0.3 ± 0.0	0.015	0.445	0.308
Nitrogen in clay	0-5	0.7 ± 0.0	0.019	0.280	0.275
	10	0.5 ± 0.0	0.028	0.031	0.230
Nitrogen in silt	0-5	0.8 ± 0.0	0.013	0.481	0.203
	10	0.5 ± 0.0	0.043	0.000	0.409
Nitrogen in sand	0-5	0.5 ± 0.0	0.002	0.025	0.028
	10	0.3 ± 0.0	< 0.001	0.911	0.193

P-values in bold indicate < 0.05

#### Table 3:

Mean  $\pm$  1 standard error (SE) of all C/N variables in the study, by soil depth layer. P-values from the mixed model regressions on C/N variables, for the following tested explanatory variables: slope, burning, species and burning x species.

				Explanatory variables (P-value)		
C/N ratio	Soil depth (cm)	Mean ± SE	Slope	Burning	Species	Burning × Species
Total	0-5	16.8 ± 0.2	0.212	< 0.001	0.872	
	10	14.4 ± 0.2	0.893	0.370	0.927	0.015
Clay	0-5	12.5 ± 0.1	0.239	0.073	0.841	
	10	$12.2 \pm 0.1$	0.019	0.163	0.953	
Silt	0-5	$14.8 \pm 0.1$	0.098	< 0.001	0.590	
	10	13.6 ± 0.1	0.549	< 0.001	0.820	
Sand	0-5	16.4 ± 0.2	0.031	0.016	0.272	
	10	14.2 ± 0.1	0.581	0.253	0.601	

P-values in bold indicate < 0.05; P-values < 0.1 are in italics



**Fig. 4.** Mean  $\pm$  1 SE total and fractional (top to bottom) soil C distribution in the upper (0-5 cm; left) and deeper (5-10 cm; right) soil layers per vegetation patch type (*Calluna vulgaris* (CV); *Cladonia* (CSP); *Cytisus scoparius* (CS); *Erica arborea* (EA); *Pteridium aquilinum* (PA)) and burning treatment.



**Fig. 5.** Mean  $\pm$  1 SE total and fractional (top to bottom) soil N distribution in the upper (0-5 cm; left) and deeper (5-10 cm; right) soil layers per vegetation patch type (*Calluna vulgaris* (CV); *Cladonia* (CSP); *Cytisus scoparius* (CS); *Erica arborea* (EA); *Pteridium aquilinum* (PA)) and burning treatment.



**Fig. 6.** Mean  $\pm$  1 SE total and fractional (top to bottom) soil C/N ratio distribution in the upper (0-5 cm; left) and deeper (5-10 cm; right) soil layers per vegetation patch type (*Calluna vulgaris* (CV); *Cladonia* (CSP); *Cytisus scoparius* (CS); *Erica arborea* (EA); *Pteridium aquilinum* (PA)) and burning treatment.

## 4. DISCUSSION

The results show significant decrease in soil C and N content of coarser fractions from upper layer (0-5 cm), but increase in finer fractions in deeper layer (5-10 cm). Patches dominated by different plant functional types show variability in the soil C and N contents, with legumes containing higher C and N proportions compared with other species. The results show an important effect of burning and species composition on total and fractional soil C and N dynamics (Table 1, Table 2; Figs. 3

to 5). The species legacy effects in the soil C and N responses to burning were weak and best revealed when analysing jointly all the C and N variables in the study by multivariate analysis (Fig. 3). The topographical variability of the study area (Fig. 2), reflected by the significance of slope in most regression models, probably masked the interacting effects between plant species and burning (Table 1 and 2). Indeed, the representation of most soil response variables suggested some tendencies in legacy effects (Figs. 3 to 5), but few significant interactions, except for C/N (Tables 1 and 2). The results suggest, thus, that topographical variability in addition to the species and burning is prone to mask biodiversity legacy effects (species x burning) on soil C and N dynamics after fire. The consideration of more than one response variable (C and N join variation, C/N; or the ensemble of study variables in multivariate spaces) seems to rend the legacy trends strong enough to overcome statistical shortcomings of univariate response analysis.

#### 4.1 Total and fractional soil C and N distribution before and after burning

C and N in the total soil (Fig. 4A; Fig. 5A) and in the sand fraction (Fig. 4D; Fig. 5D) at the upper layer (0-5 cm) decreased after fire (Table 1, Table 2). The soil C and N can be substantially decreased when temperature increases to a range of 200–250 °C (Certini 2005), which may explain the remarkable decrease of soil C and N observed at 0–5 cm depth in Pla de la Llacuna. The decrease in total C in low severity prescribed burning might be attributed to C loss as  $CO_2$  into the atmosphere, while the decrease of total N might be attributed to N loss as volatilization of N (Weast 1988), as well as direct convective transfer of ash (Smith 1970). The reduction of soil C and N during the fire affected mainly the sand fraction, maybe because combustion can be more intense in this size range due to the oxygen present in macropores (Jordán et al. 2011).

In contrast, soil C and N significantly increased with prescribed burning in the clay (Fig. 4F; Fig. 5F) and silt fractions (Fig. 4G, Fig. 5G) in the deeper soil layer (5-10 cm) (Table 1, Table 2). This suggests the redistribution of C and N in soil fractions after prescribed burning by promoting C and N enrichment in finer fractions in the study area. The increase of C and N in the clay and silt fractions may be due to the downwards translocation and accumulation of C and N at deeper layers compared to the upper layer (Leal et al. 2019), including leaching of C and N from the sand fraction from the upper layer to fine fractions to the deeper layer (Fowells and Stephenson 1934). There were no significant changes in other variables. Martí-Roura et al. 2014 suggest this could indicate the compensation of losses via volatilization by the incorporation of new C and N into ashes and

partially charred plant residues. It could also suggest reduced mobility of C and N in these other fractions in front of burning disturbances.

So, the results didn't support the first hypothesis, because not every C and N fractional variable increased with burning.

# 4.2 Plant species and species legacy effects on total and fractional soil C and N distribution after burning

PCA Axis 1 differentiated vegetation patches according to initial soil C and N conditions, while PCA Axis 2, and particularly, Axis 3 showed that the differences on overall soil C and N properties before burning were bigger than post-burning, and that patches separated differently on those axes according to burning (Fig. 3B). This suggests that species had very strong effects on soils before burning, but left legacy effects on soil fractional C and N after burning in dissimilar intensity. However, when analysing the soil C and N total and fractional response variables separately in the regression models, there were no significant interactions between plant species and burning in the total soil, neither in the three soil C and N fractions (Table 1, Table 2). But there were some tendencies for vegetation patch types to respond differently to burning (Fig. 4; Fig. 5).

The legume shrub *Cytisus* showed the highest differentiation when considering overall composition of soil C and N parameters compared to other species, both before and after burning (PCA axis 1; Fig. 3A), In addition, *Cytisus* patches showed significantly higher C and N in sand in the upper than in the deeper layer before and after burning (Table 1, Table 2; Fig. 4D, Fig. 5D). This could be related, among other facts, to the root system of *Cytisus*, characterised by root splitters (Chmelíková and Hejcman 2012). The sand-size fraction is basically consisted of the particulate organic matter, which is coherent with the fact that this fraction is the entrance pool of organic material in soil (Diekow et al. 2005). Thus, it is in the agreement with my second hypothesis.

Very importantly, legumes are capable to fix atmospheric nitrogen (Reich et al. 2003). Thus, to avoid nutrient limitation, those species can access atmospheric nitrogen and produce high-nitrogen content biomass (Craine et al. 2002). Due to their effectiveness in transferring aminoacids between nodules and roots, legumes favour organic N sources compared to other plant functional types (Moran-Zuloaga et al. 2015). Legumes possess higher leaf nitrogen content (Reich et al. 1998) and higher specific leaf area compared with other plant functional types (PFT), traits related with

increased photosynthetic rates (Reich et al. 1998). This will enhance net  $CO_2$  uptake compared to other PFT, and increase the photosynthetic rates of the whole community (Ibañez et al. 2020), resulting in enhanced soil organic matter accumulation. Soils under legumes have higher litter quality and litter decomposition rates, larger effects on N availability, and N supply rates than nonlegumes due to symbiotic relationships (Tilman and Wedin 1991; Fornara and Tilman 2008). Zhao et al. (2014) found that there were significant correlations between legumes and soil properties, and the presence of legumes increased soil C and N content. Also according to Debouk et al. (2020) soil under legume possess more nitrogen than other plant functional type combinations. Furthermore, complex interactions between plant herbage quality and soil organic C dynamics have been reported (Rodriguez et al. 2000).

*Cladonia* patches also showed important differences in soil C and N distribution compared to the other patch types (PCA axis 1; Fig. 3A). A study conducted in Siberian forests by Webb et al. (2017) found that soil C storage was lower in lichen, likely due to lower rates of C fixation (Turetsky et al. 2010), or higher rates of decomposition of vascular plant litter lichen patches (Wardle et al. 2003). Castillo-Monroy et al. (2010) found that NO<sub>3</sub> was lower in the site dominated by lichens than those composed by other plant functional types.

Soils under *Cytisus* and *Calluna* were the ones showing a higher response to burning compared to the soil under the other species (PCA axis 2; Fig. 3A). The important response of *Cytisus* after burning is not surprising. It is well known that, after burning, legumes modify soil C and N (Hendricks and Boring 1999; Newland and DeLuca 2000). The presence of legumes influences the amount of extractable inorganic N after burning. N-rich plant litter and burned residues of legume can stimulate N mineralization and nitrification after low intensity fires (Madritch and Cardinale 2007). Legumes also respond positively to fire in other ecosystems, including the tallgrass prairie and pine forests of the southeastern US (Hendricks and Boring 1999; Newland and DeLuca 2000). On the other hand, a large proportion of the nutrients can be mobilized as ash and smoke from the soil under *Calluna* after burning (Evans and Allen 1971).

After burning, total soil C decreased in all the species, but this decrease was more pronounced in *Cladonia* and *Erica* patches (Table 1, Fig. 4A). Total soil N also decreased in almost all vegetation patch types, more remarkably in *Cladonia* patches in the upper layer (0-5 cm depth) compared to the other patch types (Table 2, Fig. 5A). Sedia and Ehrenfeld (2005) found that the accumulation

of organic matter and the mineral N, predominantly in the form of ammonium, were lower on the soil beneath lichens compared with grasses and mosses after fire.

C in sand also showed a decreasing trend in all species after burning, but especially in the *Calluna* and *Cytisus* patches (Table 1, Fig. 4D); as well as decreased N in all patches, but mainly in *Calluna*, followed by *Cytisus* and *Erica* in the upper soil layer (0-5 cm depth) after burning (Table 2, Fig. 5D). A large proportion of the nutrients can be mobilized as ash and smoke from the soil under *Calluna* after burning (Evans and Allen 1971).

On the other hand, N in the clay fraction increased especially in *Cytisus*, but also slightly increased in *Calluna* and *Cladonia* after burning in the deeper layer (5-10 cm; Table. 2, Fig. 5F). This increasing trend was also found in the silt fraction, in which C and N increased after burning more remarkably in *Calluna* and *Cytisus* in the deeper layer (5-10 cm) (Table 1, Table 2; Fig. 4G, Fig. 5G). Nutrients under *Calluna* not exported in smoke might be translocated downward on the soil as ash (Evans and Allen 1971; Leal et al. 2019). And, this might be the result of an increase in belowground deposition under *Cytisus* (Birouste et al. 2012). This trend is also likely due to the incorporation of ashes under *Cladonia* in the deeper layer (Soto and Díaz-Fierros 1993). Therefore, it partially agrees with my 3rd hypothesis.

Slope significantly modified almost all soil carbon and nitrogen fractions in both soil layers (Table 1, Table 2). The accumulation of particulates transport downslope can lead to increased soil C and N in depositional areas (Nitzsche et al. 2017), responsible for higher rates of heterotrophic respiration and denitrification (Groffman and Tiedje 1989). In our case, higher C and N contents were found in steeper slopes by the bottom of the hill side, suggesting a more pronounced effect of microtopography than of slope itself. Topography is known to alter soil properties that control soil biogeochemical processes (Sebastià 2004).

Therefore, according to our second hypothesis, different species dominated patches had different soil C and N total and fractional contents, and legumes contained higher C and N proportions than species. In addition, there were some tendencies for some species to respond more strongly to burning than other species, trends that were revealed more clearly when considering multiple response variables ensemble.

#### 4.3 Total and fractional soil C/N ratio

Prescribed fire significantly affected the C/N ratio of total soil (Fig. 5A) and sand fraction (Fig. 5D) in the upper layer (0-5), as well as in the silt fraction (Fig. 5C; Fig. 5G) in both layers (0-5 cm and 5-10 cm) (Table 3). A significant burning x species interaction on C/N was observed in total soil in the deeper soil layer (5-10 cm), with *Cladonia* decreasing markedly its C/N ratio after fire compared to the other patches (Table 3, Fig. 5 E). The C/N ratio of slope in the clay fraction in the deeper layer and in the sand fraction in the upper layer was also significant (Table 3). This decreasing trend of the C/N ratio indicating high N input over C could be an indicator of a high content of microbial debris (González-Pérez et al. 2004) which is related with microbial decomposition. Decomposition leads to net mineralization of nitrogen (FOG 1988). Increased N inputs leads to the primary production and soil C storage (Nave et al. 2009). Though soil C and N significantly increased with prescribed burning in the silt fractions in the deeper soil layer (5-10 cm), the C/N ratio decreased. This can be causing a change in the recalcitrancy of the C in the soil.

### **5.** Conclusion

C and N in total soil and in the sand fraction in the upper layer (0-5cm) decreased after prescribed burning, but increased in silt and clay fractions in the deeper layer (5-10 cm), which is likely due to downwards translocation and accumulation of C and N from coarse fractions in superficial soil to fine fractions in deeper soil layers. Hence, it is a recommendation for further study to assess the translocation process of C and N in the different fractions in this ecosystem. The C/N ratio of total soil and sand fraction in the upper layer (0-5 cm), as well as silt fraction in both layers decreased after fire indicating soil C in the study site is labile. There were differences both in the way different species distributed C and N among fractions and total C and N, and in how different patches responded to burning. Differences in the response to burning were stronger when considering more than one soil variable together, including multivariate ordination analysis and the C/N ratio, and remaining elusive in the univariate response analysis. The legume shrub Cytisus showed the highest differential overall composition of soil C and N parameters compared to other species as legume possess more C and N than other species. So, legume can help in maintaining soil fertility in the site (Barthes et al. 2004), as well as provide support in the harsh conditions and compensate nutrient loss (Chaer et al. 2011). Soils under Cytisus and Calluna were the most responsive to burning compared to other species. Therefore, the effect of fire is dependent on the species composition of the ecosystem, and it is important in ecological as well as in management aspects.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Maria Teresa Sebastià and my co-supervisor Mercedes Ibañez for their enormous support. I also thank Jose Manjon-Cabeza, Christian Mestre, Pepi Broncano, Josefina Plaixats, Rosa Mosquera, Váquez, and Alex for their help with the sample processing in the laboratory and in the field, as well as other facilities. This study was developed through projects OPEN2PRESERVE (SOE2/P5E0804), from the EU SUDOE; and IMAGINE (CGL2017-85490-R), from the Spanish Sience Foundation.

### References

- Artz, R.R., Reid, E., Anderson, I.C., Campbell, C.D. and Cairney, J.W., 2009. Long term repeated prescribed burning increases evenness in the basidiomycete laccase gene pool in forest soils. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 67(3), pp.397-410.
- Arocena, J.M. and Opio, C., 2003. Prescribed fire-induced changes in properties of sub-boreal forest soils. *Geoderma*, 113(1-2), pp.1-16.
- Badía, D., Martí, C., Aguirre, A.J., Aznar, J.M., González-Pérez, J.A., De la Rosa, J.M., León, J., Ibarra, P. and Echeverría, T., 2014. Wildfire effects on nutrients and organic carbon of a Rendzic Phaeozem in NE Spain: changes at cm-scale topsoil. *Catena*, 113, pp.267-275.
- Baird, A.J., Beckwith, C.W., Waldron, S. and Waddington, J.M., 2004. Ebullition of methanecontaining gas bubbles from near-surface Sphagnum peat. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 31(21).
- Bartolomé, J., Franch, J., Plaixats, J. and Seligman, N.G., 1998. Diet selection by sheep and goats on Mediterranean heath-woodland range. *Rangeland Ecology & Management/Journal of Range Management Archives*, 51(4), pp.383-391.
- Belillas, C.M. and Rodà, F., 1991. Nutrient budgets in a dry heathland watershed in northeastern Spain. *Biogeochemistry*, *13*(2), pp.137-157.

- Birouste, M., Kazakou, E., Blanchard, A. and Roumet, C., 2012. Plant traits and decomposition: are the relationships for roots comparable to those for leaves?. *Annals of Botany*, *109*(2), pp.463-472.
- Bolòs, O.D., NUET, J. and Panareda, J.M., 1986. Flora vascular del Montseny. *El patrimoni biològic del Montseny. Catàlegs de flora i fauna*, *1*, pp.41-92.
- Braak, C.J. and Šmilauer, P., 2018. *Canoco reference manual and user's guide: software for ordination (version 5.10)*. Biometris, Wageningen University & Research.
- Brown, D.H, Bates, J.W. 1990. Bryophytes and nutrient cycling. Bot J Linn Soc 104, pp.129–147.
- Busch, F.A., Sage, R.F. and Farquhar, G.D., 2018. Plants increase CO 2 uptake by assimilating nitrogen via the photorespiratory pathway. *Nature Plants*, *4*(1), pp.46-54.
- Campbell, C.A., Myers, R.J.K. and Weier, K.L., 1981. Nitrogen mineralization potentials, decomposition rates and their relations to temperature for five Queensland soils. *Austr. J. Soil Res*, *19*(2), pp.323-323.
- Certini, G., 2005. Effects of fire on properties of forest soils: a review. *Oecologia*, 143(1), pp.1-10.
- Chmelíková, L. and Hejcman, M., 2012. Root system variability in common legumes in Central Europe. *Biologia*, 67(1), pp.116-125.
- Chaer, G.M., Resende, A.S., Campello, E.F.C., de Faria, S.M. and Boddey, R.M., 2011. Nitrogenfixing legume tree species for the reclamation of severely degraded lands in Brazil. *Tree Physiology*, 31(2), pp.139-149.
- Craine, J.M., Tilman, D., Wedin, D., Reich, P., Tjoelker, M. and Knops, J., 2002. Functional traits, productivity and effects on nitrogen cycling of 33 grassland species. *Functional Ecology*, 16(5), pp.563-574.
- Dawson, H.J., Hrutfiord, B.F. and Ugolini, F.C., 1984. Mobility of lichen compounds from Cladonia mitis in arctic soils. *Soil science*, *138*(1), pp.40-45.
- Diekow, J., Mielniczuk, J., Knicker, H., Bayer, C., Dick, D.P. and Kögel-Knabner, I., 2005. Carbon and nitrogen stocks in physical fractions of a subtropical Acrisol as influenced by long-term no-till cropping systems and N fertilisation. *Plant and Soil*, 268(1), pp.319-328.

- Dunn, P.H., DeBano, L.F. and Eberlein, G.E., 1979. Effects of burning on chaparral soils: II. Soil microbes and nitrogen mineralization. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 43(3), pp.509-514.
- Evans, C.C. and Allen, S.E., 1971. Nutrient losses in smoke produced during heather burning. *Oikos*, pp.149-154.
- FOG, K., 1988. The effect of added nitrogen on the rate of decomposition of organic matter. *Biological Reviews*, 63(3), pp.433-462.
- Fornara, D.A. and Tilman, D., 2008. Plant functional composition influences rates of soil carbon and nitrogen accumulation. *Journal of Ecology*, *96*(2), pp.314-322.
- Fowells, H.A. and Stephenson, R.E. 1934. Effect of burning on forest soils. Soil Science 38, pp. 175-181.
- Fyles, J.W. and McGill, W.B., 1987. Decomposition of boreal forest litters from central Alberta under laboratory conditions. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *17*(2), pp.109-114.
- Girona-García, A., Ortiz-Perpiñá, O., Badía-Villas, D. and Martí-Dalmau, C., 2018. Effects of prescribed burning on soil organic C, aggregate stability and water repellency in a subalpine shrubland: Variations among sieve fractions and depths. *Catena*, 166, pp.68-77.
- González-Pérez, J.A., González-Vila, F.J., Almendros, G. and Knicker, H., 2004. The effect of fire on soil organic matter—a review. *Environment international*, *30*(6), pp.855-870.
- Groffman, P.M. and Tiedje, J.M., 1989. Denitrification in north temperate forest soils: spatial and temporal patterns at the landscape and seasonal scales. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 21(5), pp.613-620.
- Granged, A.J., Zavala, L.M., Jordán, A. and Bárcenas-Moreno, G., 2011. Post-fire evolution of soil properties and vegetation cover in a Mediterranean heathland after experimental burning: A 3-year study. *Geoderma*, 164(1-2), pp.85-94.
- Grau-Andrés, R., Gray, A., Davies, G.M., Scott, E.M. and Waldron, S., 2019. Burning increases post-fire carbon emissions in a heathland and a raised bog, but experimental manipulation of fire severity has no effect. *Journal of environmental management*, 233, pp.321-328.

- Grau-Andrés, R., Davies, G.M., Gray, A., Scott, E.M. and Waldron, S., 2018. Fire severity is more sensitive to low fuel moisture content on Calluna heathlands than on peat bogs. *Science of the total environment*, 616, pp.1261-1269.
- Hobbs, N.T. and Schimel, D.S., 1984. Fire effects on nitrogen mineralization and fixation in mountain shrub and grassland communities. *Rangeland Ecology & Management/Journal* of Range Management Archives, 37(5), pp.402-405.
- Ibañez, M., Altimir, N., Ribas, A., Eugster, W. and Sebastià, M.T., 2020. Phenology and plant functional type dominance drive CO 2 exchange in seminatural grasslands in the Pyrenees. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, pp.1-12.
- Johnson, D.W., Susfalk, R.B., Caldwell, T.G., Murphy, J.D., Miller, W.W. and Walker, R.F., 2004.
  Fire effects on carbon and nitrogen budgets in forests. In *Biogeochemical Investigations of Terrestrial, Freshwater, and Wetland Ecosystems across the Globe* (pp. 263-275).
   Springer, Dordrecht.
- Jordán, A., Zavala, L.M., Mataix-Solera, J., Nava, A.L. and Alanís, N., 2011. Effect of fire severity on water repellency and aggregate stability on Mexican volcanic soils. *Catena*, 84(3), pp.136-147.
- Leal, O.A., Dick, D.P., Costa, F.S., Knicker, H., Carvalho Júnior, J.A.D. and Santos, J.C., 2019. Carbon in Physical Fractions and Organic Matter Chemical Composition of an Acrisol after Amazon Forest Burning and Conversion into Pasture. *Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society*, 30(2), pp.413-424.
- Madritch, M.D. and Cardinale, B.J., 2007. Impacts of tree species diversity on litter decomposition in northern temperate forests of Wisconsin, USA: a multi-site experiment along a latitudinal gradient. *Plant and Soil*, 292(1-2), pp.147-159.
- Malicki, J., 1965. The effect of lichen acids on the soil microorganisms. Part I. The washing down of the acids into the soil. *Ann Univ Mariae Curie-Sklodowska Lublin*, *10*, pp.239-248.
- Martí-Roura, M., Rovira, P., Casals, P. and Romanyà, J., 2014. Post-fire mineral N allocation and stabilisation in soil particle size fractions in Mediterranean grassland and shrubland. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 75, pp.124-132.

- Miralles, I., Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leirós, M.C. and Gil-Sotres, F., 2013. Labile carbon in biological soil crusts in the Tabernas desert, SE Spain. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *58*, pp.1-8.
- Moran-Zuloaga, D., Dippold, M., Glaser, B. and Kuzyakov, Y., 2015. Organic nitrogen uptake by plants: reevaluation by position-specific labeling of amino acids. *Biogeochemistry*, *125*(3), pp.359-374.
- Myrold, D.D. and Huss-Danell, K., 2003. Alder and lupine enhance nitrogen cycling in a degraded forest soil in Northern Sweden. In *Frankia Symbiosis* (pp. 47-56). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Mosquera-Losada, M.R., Rigueiro-Rodríguez, A. and Ferreiro-Domínguez, N., 2015. Effect of liming and organic and inorganic fertilization on soil carbon sequestered in macro-and microaggregates in a 17-year old Pinus radiata silvopastoral system. *Journal of environmental management*, 150, pp.28-38.
- Nave, L.E., Vance, E.D., Swanston, C.W. and Curtis, P.S., 2011. Fire effects on temperate forest soil C and N storage. *Ecological Applications*, *21*(4), pp.1189-1201.
- Newland, J.A. and DeLuca, T.H., 2000. Influence of fire on native nitrogen-fixing plants and soil nitrogen status in ponderosa pine-Douglas-fir forests in western Montana. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *30*(2), pp.274-282.
- Nitzsche, K.N., Kaiser, M., Premke, K., Gessler, A., Ellerbrock, R.H., Hoffmann, C., Kleeberg, A. and Kayler, Z.E., 2017. Organic matter distribution and retention along transects from hilltop to kettle hole within an agricultural landscape. *Biogeochemistry*, 136(1), pp.47-70.
- Ohtonen, R. and Väre, H., 1998. Vegetation composition determines microbial activities in a boreal forest soil. *Microbial Ecology*, *36*(3-4), pp.328-335.
- R Core Team. 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>.
- Reich, P.B., Ellsworth, D.S. and Walters, M.B., 1998. Leaf structure (specific leaf area) modulates photosynthesis–nitrogen relations: evidence from within and across species and functional groups. *Functional Ecology*, 12(6), pp.948-958.
- Reich, P.B., Buschena, C., Tjoelker, M.G., Wrage, K., Knops, J., Tilman, D. and Machado, J.L., 2003. Variation in growth rate and ecophysiology among 34 grassland and savanna species

under contrasting N supply: a test of functional group differences. *New Phytologist*, *157*(3), pp.617-631.

- Reich, P.B., Buschena, C., Tjoelker, M.G., Wrage, K., Knops, J., Tilman, D. and Machado, J.L., 2003. Variation in growth rate and ecophysiology among 34 grassland and savanna species under contrasting N supply: a test of functional group differences. *New Phytologist*, 157(3), pp.617-631.
- Reverchon, F., Xu, Z., Blumfield, T.J., Chen, C. and Abdullah, K.M., 2012. Impact of global climate change and fire on the occurrence and function of understorey legumes in forest ecosystems. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, *12*(2), pp.150-160.
- Rodríguez-Murillo, J.C., 2001. Organic carbon content under different types of land use and soil in peninsular Spain. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *33*(1), pp.53-61.
- San Emeterio, L., Múgica, L., Gutiérrez, R., Juaristi, A., Pedro, J. and Canals, R.M., 2014. Cambios en el nitrógeno edáfico tras la realización de quemas controladas para mejora de pastos pirenaicos. *Pastos*, *43*(2), pp.44-53.
- Sedia, E.G. and Ehrenfeld, J.G., 2005. Differential effects of lichens, mosses and grasses on respiration and nitrogen mineralization in soils of the New Jersey Pinelands. *Oecologia*, 144(1), pp.137-147.
- Six, J., Conant, R.T., Paul, E.A. and Paustian, K., 2002. Stabilization mechanisms of soil organic matter: implications for C-saturation of soils. *Plant and soil*, 241(2), pp.155-176.
- Shibabaw, A. and Alemeyehu, M., 2015. The Contribution of Some Soil and Crop Management Practice on Soil Organic Carbon Reserves.
- Soto, B. and Diaz-Fierros, F., 1993. Interactions between plant ash leachates and soil. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, *3*(4), pp.207-216.
- Spehn, E.M., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Schmid, B., Hector, A., Caldeira, M.C., Dimitrakopoulos, P.G., Finn, J.A., Jumpponen, A., O'donnovan, G., Pereira, J.S. and Schulze, E.D., 2002. The role of legumes as a component of biodiversity in a cross-European study of grassland biomass nitrogen. *Oikos*, *98*(2), pp.205-218.

- Switzer, J.M., Hope, G.D., Grayston, S.J. and Prescott, C.E., 2012. Changes in soil chemical and biological properties after thinning and prescribed fire for ecosystem restoration in a Rocky Mountain Douglas-fir forest. *Forest ecology and management*, 275, pp.1-13.
- Tilman, D. and Wedin, D., 1991. Dynamics of nitrogen competition between successional grasses. *Ecology*, 72(3), pp.1038-1049.
- Turetsky, M.R., Mack, M.C., Hollingsworth, T.N. and Harden, J.W., 2010. The role of mosses in ecosystem succession and function in Alaska's boreal forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 40(7), pp.1237-1264.
- Turetsky, M.R., Kotowska, A., Bubier, J., Dise, N.B., Crill, P., Hornibrook, E.R., Minkkinen, K., Moore, T.R., Myers-Smith, I.H., Nykänen, H. and Olefeldt, D., 2014. A synthesis of methane emissions from 71 northern, temperate, and subtropical wetlands. *Global change biology*, 20(7), pp.2183-2197.
- Vega, J.A., 1986. La investigación sobre incendios forestales en Espana. Revisión bibliografica. In Proceedings Symposium. Bases Ecológicas para la Gestión Ambiental (Diputación de Barcelona) (pp. 17-24).
- Veluci, R.M., Neher, D.A. and Weicht, T.R., 2006. Nitrogen fixation and leaching of biological soil crust communities in mesic temperate soils. *Microbial Ecology*, 51(2), pp.189-196.Walker, T.W., Kaiser, C., Strasser, F., Herbold, C.W., Leblans, N.I., Woebken, D., Janssens, I.A., Sigurdsson, B.D. and Richter, A., 2018. Microbial temperature sensitivity and biomass change explain soil carbon loss with warming. *Nature climate change*, 8(10), pp.885-889.
- Webb, E.E., Heard, K., Natali, S.M., Bunn, A.G., Alexander, H.D., Berner, L.T., Kholodov, A., Loranty, M.M., Schade, J.D., Spektor, V. and Zimov, N., 2017. Variability in above-and belowground carbon stocks in a Siberian larch watershed. *Biogeosciences*, 14(18), pp.4279-4294.
- Wardle, D.A., Nilsson, M.C., Zackrisson, O. and Gallet, C., 2003. Determinants of litter mixing effects in a Swedish boreal forest. *Soil biology and biochemistry*, *35*(6), pp.827-835.
- Zhao, J., Wang, X., Wang, X. and Fu, S., 2014. Legume-soil interactions: legume addition enhances the complexity of the soil food web. *Plant and soil*, *385*(1-2), pp.273-286.

### Annexes



**Fig. 7** Representation of the first two axes from Redundancy Analysis (RDA) on soil total and fractional C and N variables as descriptor variables (labels and arrows in blue). Explanatory variables are slope, burning, species, and species x burning. Symbols represent: circles, species; solid triangles, post-burnig treatment per species; open triangles, pre-burning treatment per species. Colors represent: Red, *Calluna vulgaris*; light green, *Cytisus scoparius*; deep green, *Cladonia* biocrust; blue, *Erica arborea*; and purple, *Pteridium aquilinum*.



Fig. 8 Relationship between slope and C in total and fractions in the upper layer (0-5 cm)



Fig. 9 Relationship between slope and C in total and fractions in the deeper layer (5-10 cm)



Fig. 10 Relationship between slope and N in total and fractions in the upper layer (0-5 cm)



Fig. 11 Relationship between slope and C in total and fractions in the deeper layer (5-10 cm)